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Books and Reports

1. Rudd, R.E,, Kirsch, L.S., & Yamamoto,
K. (2004). Literacy and health in America.
Princeton, NJ: Center for Global As-
sessment, Policy Information Center,
Research and Development, Educa-
tional Testing Service.

Available at:
http://www.ets.orq/

research/pic

This report provides an
overview of current
knowledge about the
state of literacy and
health literacy in the U.S. as well as a
demographic picture of who is most at
risk for low literacy. The report also dis-
cusses lapses in the research and what
should be done next to ensure all popu-
lations have access to appropriate health
information.

2. Doak, L., Doak, C., & Root, J. (1996).
Teaching patients with low literacy skills
(2" edition). Philadelphia, PA: JB Lip-
pincott Company.

Available at:

http://
www.hsph.harvard.edu/
healthliteracy/doak.html

A sentinel book that dis-
cusses how to develop
effective health communication materi-
als for patients with low literacy. Itis
currently out of print but can be ac-
cessed via the above website.
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3. National Cancer Institute. (1989). Mak-

ing health communication programs work
(“Pink Book™). Bethesda, MD.

Available at :
www.nci.nih.gov/

pinkbook.

One of the first compre-
hensive guides to creat-
ing effective health com-
munication messages and
programs, this book is still a valuable
document that provides clear sugges-
tions and templates for producing read-
able, culturally appropriate and effective
messages for all populations.

National Center for Education Statis-

tics. (2003). Reports from the National

Assessment of Adult Literacy studies. 2003.
Reports include: 1. National Assess-
ment of Adult Literacy (NAAL): A first
look at the literacy of American adults
in the 21% century; 2. The health liter-
acy of America’s Adults; 3. Adult Liter-
acy in Everyday Life, among others.

Access reports at:
http://nces.ed.qov/naal.

These reports outline
findings from the Na-
tional Assessment of
Adult Literacy surveys
and are the basis for much health liter-
acy work and focus. Each report has a
slightly different focus. You can find
past reports on the “archives” tab.
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5. The Joint Commission. What did the

doctor say? Improving health literacy to
protect patient safety.

Available at:

http://www.joint

commission.org/NR/
1% B rdonlyres/D5248B2E-
% § E7E6-4121-8874-

. * +§ 99C7B4888301/0/

O Improv-
ing health literacy.pdf

“What Did the Docror Sav2”
Improving Health Lireracy to
Protect Patient. Safezy

This report was developed to help clini-
cians and hospitals better improve com-
munication, from the exam room to the
waiting room, for low literacy patients.

. Rudd, R.E., Moeykens, B.A. & Colton,
TC. (2000). Health and literacy: A re-
view of medical and public health lit-
erature. InJ.P. Comings, B. Garner &

C. Smith (Eds.) The annual review of
adult learning and literacy (pp. 158-199).
San Francisco: Jossey-Bass Publishers.

N Available at:
wiaa s | http://www.ncsall.net/?

| This important chapter ex-
| amines the medical and

=2 public health literature re-

garding links between

health and literacy and identifies trends
in research and practice. The authors
also call for more research on the rela-
tionship between levels of health literacy
and health outcomes, the intermediate
factors that influence health outcomes,
and health care costs. They stress the
need for continued efforts to develop
strategies to address the special needs of
those with low health literacy. The au-
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thors close by describing some exem-
plary projects that illustrate the potential
for effective collaboration between pro-
fessionals in education and health in
seeking to meet the needs of less literate
populations.

Cohn, V. & Cope, L. (2001). News &
Numbers: A guide to reporting statistical
claims and controversies in health and re-
lated fields (second edition). Ames, IA:
lowa State University Press.

This book, aimed at news
reporters, provides informa-
tion needed to understand,
analyze and explain statis-
tics in health science and
related areas. It can also
help those developing mate-
rials strategies to explain statistics and
concepts such as risk and probability to
a low literacy population.

Berkman, N.D., DeWalt, D.A., Pignone,
M.P., Sheridan, S.L., Lohr, K.N., Lux,
L., Sutton, S.F., Swinson, T. & Bonito,
AJ. (Agency for Healthcare Research
and Quality). (2004). Literacy and health
outcomes: Evidence report/technology as-
sessment, No. 87 (Prepared by RTI Inter-
national — University of North Carolina
Evidence-based Practice Center under
Contract No. 290-02-0016). AHRQ Pub-
lication No. 04-E007-2. Rockville, MD:
Agency for Healthcare Research and

Quality.

Available at:
http://www.ahrg.gov/
downloads/pub/
evidence/pdf/literacy/

literacy.pdf
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This comprehensive assessment report
presents an exhaustive review of all
published studies on health literacy
through 2003. It reviews and synthe-
sizes the research so the reader is able to
see what the research tells us about
health literacy and its relationship to
health outcomes, healthcare accessibility
and a number of health disparities.

Committee on Health Literacy Board
on Neuroscience and Behavioral
Health. (2004). Health Literacy: A pre-
scription to end confusion. Washington,
D.C.: The National Academies Press.

Available at:
http://www.iom.edu/?
1d=19723&redirect=0

Health

Literacy

o This book is a comprehen-
%, | sive look at the issue of
Q. health literacy, including
its origins, consequences
and solutions. It provides excellent
depth to understanding the problem and
how it effects health and healthcare in

the United States.

Osborne, H. (2005). Health literacy from
Ato Z: Practical ways to communicate
your health message. Sudbury, MA:
Jones and Bartlett Publishers.

This book focuses on effec-
, |tive communication be-
tween patients and provid-
| ers. Osborne focuses on
providing practical sugges-
J|tions to health providers
who communicate health
information. She discusses
how to communicate with patients with
special needs, effectively understand
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11.

12.

culture and language, how to use picto-
graphs, plain language, signs and stories
when communicating, as well as website
design and effective word choice.

Zarcadoolas, C., Pleasant, A.F., Greer,
D.S. (2006). Advancing health literacy: A
framework for understanding and action.
San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.

W/ l This book addresses the cri-
CUVELTEEN sis in health literacy in the
LI'.}'E;‘:E United States and around

the world, examining the
critical role of literacy in
public health and outlining
a practical, effective model
that bridges the gap between health edu-
cation, health promotion, and health
communication using a public health
perspective. This comprehensive re-
source includes the history of health lit-
eracy, theoretical foundations of health
and language literacy, the role of the me-
dia, and a series of case studies on im-
portant topics including prenatal care,
anthrax, HIV/AIDS, genomics, and dia-
betes. The book concludes with a series
of practical guidelines for the develop-
ment and assessment of health commu-
nications materials.

Schwartzberg, J.G., VanGeest, J.B. &
Wang, C.C. (Eds.). (2005). Understanding
Health Literacy. AMA Press.

This comprehensive book
on health literacy research
seeks to improve under-
standing of health literacy
and stimulate research fo-
I CUS€d 0N reducing or elimi-

nating the literacy barrier to
effective medical diagnosis and treat-
ment.

Understanding
Iealth Literacy
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13. Kirsch, 1., Braun, H., & Yamamoto,
K. (2007). America’s perfect
storm: Three forces changing our nation’s
future. Princeton, NJ: Educational
Testing Service.

Available at:

g http://
www.etsliteracy.com/
Media/Research/pdf/
PICSTORM.pdf

—1This report, while not
specifically about health literacy, dis-
cusses three forces that will severely im-
pact the American population. These
forces (divergent skill distribution
among U.S. population groups, a chang-
ing economy, and demographic trends
of a growing, more diverse population),
they argue, will impact the nation in the
next 25 years. Literacy is discussed as a
consequence of these forces, putting the
nation at risk. The report is an impor-
tant complement to the more practical
health literacy guides, in that it helps
place the context of literacy in a large so-
cietal picture.
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V. Considerations

The background section of this guide has provided
you with information about the role health literacy
plays in health outcomes. More than other factors
such as age, socioeconomic status, education level,
and racial or ethnic group, health literacy is the
strongest predictor of an individual’s health

status. This section will provide a short summary
of some steps you can take when making changes
to the literacy environment of your organization.

Education and awareness play an important role in
effecting change to the literacy environment within
an organization. This guide provides a number of
tools to help prepare you for this step. Providing
education and tools to staff through guest speakers,
trainings and seminars on health literacy, are all
ways to begin implementing change.

Research indicates that increased awareness of and
sensitivity to health literacy can enhance learning,
increase appointment keeping and compliance with
regimens, improve patient safety, remove access
barriers, and reduce costs (Rudd, 2006). Getting
buy-in from your organization or a champion that
can help facilitate change is important.

Another important consideration in making
changes to the literacy environment is to look at the
policies of your program or organization. You may
need to make changes to policies or procedures
before you are able to make organizational
changes.

Assessing the literacy environment includes
looking at different areas of your
organization. Two important considerations are
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communication (print, oral and web), and
navigation, or the physical environment (including
maps, signs, etc.). This guide offers different tools
to help facilitate this process. For looking at print
communication a number of readability tools are
listed such as the SMOG readability formula. For
assessing the whole literacy environment, refer to
Dr. Rima Rudd’s tool, “The health literacy
environment of hospitals and health

centers. Partners for Action: Making your
healthcare facility literacy friendly. There are
also health literacy assessment tools that can help
you assess the health literacy level of the

patients or clients that you serve, such as the
TOFHLA or Newest Vital Sign.

The purpose of this guide has been to show you
different resources available to help you examine
your literacy environment. These tools should help
you be more aware of the materials you provide,
the language you use, or the overall health literacy
environment you create for populations you may be
working with.

References

Rudd, R., & Anderson, J. (2006). The health lit-
eracy environment of hospitals and health cen-
ters. Partners for Action: Making your health-
care facility literacy friendly. National Center for
the Study of Adult Learning and Literacy and the
Health and Adult Literacy and Learning Institute,
Harvard School of Public Health.
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V. Tools and Resources B

Toolkits and Guides
All resources are current as of July, 2008

Stair B

1. American Medical Association Founda- 3. Center for Health Care Strategies, Inc.

tion. (2007). Health literacy and patient
safety: Help patients understand (second
edition).

Available at:
M% http://www.ama-

assn.org/amal/pub/
upload/mm /367 /healthlitclinicians.pdf
Cost: $35 but DVDs can be viewed free of
charge at: http://www.ama-assn.org/
ama/pub/category/8035.html.

This provides a kit that includes two
DVDs, a manual and other tools that could
be used in a clinician’s office. The kit pro-
vides suggestions for clinicians to help
their patients, including offering an open
and shame-free environment, having an
attitude of helpfulness and providing a
place where patients feel safe and comfort-
able to ask questions.

. Centers for Disease Control and Preven-

tion. (1999). Simply Put: Tips for creating
easy-to-read print materials your audi-
ence will want to read and use.

Available at:
http://www.cdc.qov/od/

This guide is meant to help simplify com-
plicated medical and scientific information
put out by CDC in easy-to-read, accessible
information for the public. Helps the
reader learn how to effectively translate
information and provides examples to fol-
low.
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Health literacy fact sheets, 1-9.

Available at:
http://www.chcs.org/usr doc/
Health Literacy Fact Sheets.pdf

These easy-to-use fact sheets cover the
range of topics, from “what is health liter-
acy” to preparing health education materi-
als. All nine fact sheets are easily
downloaded from the Center’s website and
provide a good place to start with develop-
ing or revising materials.

. Jacobson, K.L. et al. (2005). Clear and ef-

fective patient education: A guide for im-
proving health communications in the
hospital setting. Emory Center on Health
Outcomes and Equality and Agency for
Healthcare Research and Quality
(AHRQ).

M gﬂna Available at:
http://

www.sph.emory.edu/CHOQ/PDF/
CommunicationsManual.pdf

This guide gives health care providers in-
formation on how to select, write, and de-
sign health communications materials that
will meet the needs of their patients, re-
gardless of their health literacy level.
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5. McKinney, J., Kurtz-Rossi, S. Family

health and literacy: A guide to easy-to-
read health education materials and
websites for families. Sponsored by
World Education, National Institute for
Literacy, Metlife Foundation.

Available at:
http://healthliteracy.worlded.orqg/
docs/family/fhl.pdf

This guide is geared towards educators
in health or community based organiza-
tions on how to incorporate easy-to-read
materials in curricula with families and
children. Includes materials, templates
and sample lesson plans.

National Institutes of Health, National
Cancer Institute. (1994). Clear and
Simple: Developing Effective Print
Materials for Low-literate readers.

TK AT Available at:

EA]\]QER http://cancer.gov/

TITL [T laboutnci/oc/clear-and-

simple/allpages

This guide is one of the first to address
developing materials for a low-literacy
population. Taking a marketing ap-
proach, this guide helps the reader un-
derstand how to pilot and test messages
in populations to ensure understanding
and appropriateness.

Office of Minority Health. A Family
Physician’s Practical Guide to Cultur-
ally Competent Care.

Available at:
http://cccm.thinkculturalhealth.org/
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This guide includes cultural competency
curriculum modules designed to equip
family physicians with awareness,
knowledge and skills in cultural compe-
tency to better treat the increasingly di-
verse U.S. population.

Plain Language.gov. Plain Language:
Improving communication from the
federal government to the public.

Available at:
http: //www.plainlanguage.qov/ howto.

This guide is designed to improve com-
munication from the federal government
to the public. The report contains excel-
lent tools and examples of plain lan-
guage, and provides a “how to” section
for providers to re-write materials for
low literacy users.

Public Health Information Partners.
(2007). Health literacy: Tools for im-
proving health communications.

Available at:
http://library.nymc.edu/

PHInformatics/hltoolkit.cfm.

This toolkit is from a conference held
May 30, 2007 at New York Medical Col-
lege. The goal was to provide health
professionals and hospital staff an op-
portunity to develop awareness of health
literacy issues. The toolkit offers links to
websites that promote health literacy
skills.
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10. Rudd, R., & Anderson, J. (2006). The

11.

health literacy environment of hospi-
tals and health centers. Partners for
Action: Making your healthcare facil-
ity literacy friendly. National Center
for the Study of Adult Learning and
Literacy and the Health and Adult Lit-
eracy and Learning Institute, Harvard
School of Public Health.

Available at:
www.ncsall.net and
www.hsph.harvard.edu/healthliteracy.

This guide is geared specifically for hos-
pitals and health centers to help them
assess the accessibility of their institu-
tions to all populations. This includes
not only written materials but signage,
policies and protocols, and websites.
The guide has step-by-step instructions
that institutions can take to make them-
selves more accessible to low-literacy
populations.

Rudd, R. and Zobel, E.K. (2005).
Health literacy and public health fo-
rums: partners for Action. National
Center for the Study of Adult Learning
and Literacy and the Health and Adult
Literacy and Learning Institute, Har-
vard School of Public Health.

Available at:
www.ncsall.net.

This guide provides suggestions and
materials for the development and im-
plementation of a Health Literacy Forum
to be coordinated by a local, county, or
state Department of Public Health. It
provides step-by-step instructions for
public health departments just as the

12.

13.

“Health Literacy Environment of Hospi-
tals and Health Centers” guide did for
hospitals and health centers.

Singleton, K. (2003). Virginia Adult
Education Health Literacy Toolkit.

Available at:
http:// www.valrc.org/

This toolkit is a resource to help people
better understand the problem of health
literacy and is designed to support crea-
tive approaches to help learners increase
health literacy. Information and re-
sources are provided to educate about
health care in the U.S. and cultural issues
related to health. It also provides health
lessons, curricula for teachers and sam-
ple programs. Many online and print
resources are also available.

Southern Institute on Children and
Families. (2005). The Health Literacy
Style Manual: Covering kids and fami-
lies.

Available at:
http:// coveringkidsandfamilies.orqg/
resources/docs/stylemanual.pdf

This booklet has suggestions for devel-
oping and improving print materials re-
lated to government programs. Strate-
gies include writing and formatting spe-
cifically for clients, many of whom have
limited literacy skills.
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14. U.S. Department of Health and Human

Services, Office of Disease Prevention
and Health Promotion. Quick guide to
health literacy.

Available at:
http://www.health.gov/
communication/literacy/quickguide/
Quickquide.pdf.

This guide contains a basic overview of
key health literacy concepts and tech-
niques for improving health literacy
through communication, navigation,
knowledge-building and advocacy. It
provides the information needed to be-
come an effective advocate for improved
health literacy.

15. U.S. National Library of Medicine.
(2003). Current bibliographies in medi-
cine: Understanding health literacy
and its barriers.

: Available at:

http://
 Www.nlm.nih.gov/
ubs/cbm/
BTN AL healthliteracybarri-
MEDICINE [Ehelis

This bibliography covers information on
health literacy primarily from online da-
tabases and the Internet.

16. U.S. National Library of Medicine.

How to write easy to read health mate-
rials.

Available at:
http://www.nIm.nih.gov/medlineplus/

etr.html

This report provides suggestions for
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17.

writing comprehensive, easy-to-read
materials for all populations.

World Education and the National In-
stitute for Literacy. (1999). Health and
literacy Compendium: An annotated

bibliography of print and Web-based
health materials for use with limited-
literacy adults.

Available at:
http://healthliteracy.worlded.org/

docs/comp/

This is a comprehensive resource guide
on literacy. Includes not only resources
around health but other issues such as
law.
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Websites

. Agency for Health Care Research and
Quality. Health literacy and cultural
competency.

Sponsor: U.S. Department of Health and
Human Services

URL: http:/ /www.ahrqg.gov/browse/
hlitix.htm

Online resources, consumer decision
aids, clinical information and sugges-
tions for improving healthcare delivery.

. Ask Me 3.

Sponsor: Pfizer Clear Health Communi-
cations
URL: http:/ /www.npsf.org/askme3/

This website is for both consumers and
providers to learn how to communicate
with each other. Printable materials are
available.

Harvard School of Public Health.
Health Literacy Studies.

URL: http:/ /www.hsph.harvard.edu/
healthliteracy/index.html

Resources include a slide presentation,
video and visual displays about health

literacy, and available literature and in-
formation on how to create and access

print materials.

Health and Literacy Special Collection.
Sponsor: World Education with support

from the National Institute for Literacy.
URL: http:/ /healthliteracy.worlded.org

Information includes sample health les-

30

sons, easy-to-read materials, multilin-
gual health information and health liter-
acy research. Can be used by both con-
sumers and professionals.

Health Resources and Services Ad-
ministration.

Sponsor: U.S. Department of Health and
Human Services

URL: www.hrsa.gov /servicedelivery/
language.htm.

This website gives directions for creating
more readable HIPAA privacy notices.

National Network of Libraries of Medi-
cine. Health Literacy

Sponsor: National Library of Medicine
URL: http:/ /nnlm.gov/outreach/
consumer /hlthlit.html.

This website defines health literacy, lists
health literacy organizations and web-
sites and provides access to a number of
resources.

NIFL-HEALTH listserv.

Sponsor: National Institute for Literacy
To subscribe go to: http://
www.nifl.gov/mailman/listinfo/
healthliteracy. Fill out the form and
click on the ‘subscribe’ button at bottom
of the form.

This is a listserv for health educators, lit-
eracy providers, clinical providers, re-
searchers, policy developers and others
interested in exploring links between
health and literacy issues.
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8. NIFL-HEALTH listserv. This website is a good resource to use when
developing websites. It helps identify what

Sponsor: National Institute for Literacy a usable, useful and accessible website
To subscribe go to: http:// should look like. It contains information,
www.nifl.gov/mailman/listinfo/ guidelines and checklists for conducting us-
healthliteracy. Fill out the form and ability testing and user-centered design.
click on the ‘subscribe’ button at bottom
of the form.

This is a listserv for health educators, lit-
eracy providers, clinical providers, re-
searchers, policy developers and others
interested in exploring links between
health and literacy issues.

9. Plain Language Action and Informa-
tion Network (PLAIN). Popular topics:
Improving Health Literacy.

Sponsor: Plain Language Action and In-
formation Network (PLAIN)

URL: http:/ /www.plainlanguage.qov/
populartopics/health literacy/
index.cfm

This site was created to promote the use
of ‘plain language’ in all government
communications. Site provides re-
sources to help put text into plain lan-
guage. Sponsored by the National Cen-
ter for Education Statistics, the 2003 Na-
tional Assessment of Adult Literacy
(NAAL) is a nationally representative
assessment of English literacy among
American adults over 14. Webcasts are
available on such topics as addressing
low literacy and defining the goals and
research behind the NAAL.

10. Usability.gov.

Sponsor: U.S. Department of Health and
Human Services
URL: http:/ / www.usability.gov
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Presentations and Trainings

1. National Institute of Literacy. National

Assessment of Adult Literacy.

Available at:
http://www.nifl.qov/nifl/
NAAL2003.html.

Sponsored by the National Center for
Education Statistics, the 2003 National
Assessment of Adult Literacy (NAAL) is
a nationally representative assessment
of English literacy among American
adults over 14. Webcasts are available
on such topics as addressing low literacy
and defining the goals and research be-
hind the NAAL.

Stableford, S. Write it Easy to Read:
Vibrant plain language for clear health
communication. Biddleford, ME:
AHEC Health Literacy Center, 2004.

Available at:
http://www.clearlanguageqgroup.com.

Stableford focuses on the need for plain
language and argues that health literacy
is critical to lowering health disparities.
Using real world examples, she helps the
student understand the importance of
writing clearly and utilizing layout and
design for reading ease.

. Wescott, B. Easy-to-read health and
wellness materials for consumers: rec-
ognizing it, finding, it, writing it, re-
writing it. National Networks of Li-
braries of Medicine. August 2007.

Available at:
http://nnlm.gov/seal/training/
easytoread.html.
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This CD helps the user critique, rewrite
and create materials that get health and
wellness information across quickly and
clearly. The user is also provided with
brochures, examples, SMOG and
REALM tests, a webliography and links
to other trainings.

. World Education. Health literacy:

New field, new opportunities.

Available at:

http://
www.healthliteracy.worlded.org/docs/
tutorial /SWF /flashcheck/main.htm.

This online tutorial is designed for
health and literacy educators interested
in getting more involved in health liter-
acy work. Users learn about the chal-
lenges associated with low health liter-
acy, meet some of the new health liter-
acy practitioners in the field, hear about
successful strategies and practices and
apply what they have learned to a chal-
lenging health literacy scenario. The
tutorial was developed by World Educa-
tion and funded by the National Net-
work of Libraries of Medicine New Eng-
land Region.
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Health Literacy Assessment Tools

1. WRAT-R -Wide Range Achievement

Test Revised

Available at:

www.addwarehouse.com or
http://www.hsrd.research.va.gov/
for_researchers/measurement/
instrument/overviews/co_literacy.cfm

The WRAT offers two equivalent alter-
nate test forms, to be used individually
or in combination, for comprehensive
test results. It can be used for persons
aged 5 to 75 years. It assesses skillsin
reading, spelling and arithmetic. In
health settings, the person reads aloud
from a list of words. When 10 consecu-
tive words are mispronounced, the lest
concludes and a score is calculated.
Standard scores and percentiles compare
individual performance with that of oth-
ers of the same age or can be converted
to a grade equivalent score. Takes ap-
proximately 10 minutes to administer.

REALM - Rapid Estimate of Adult Lit-
eracy in Medicine

Samples available at:
http://www.nursing.columbia.edu/
informatics/ HealthLitRes/
assessTool.html

and http://
www.nursing.columbia.edu/
informatics/ HealthLitRes/pdf/
REALM 1.pdf

The REALM is designed to be used in
public health and primary care settings
to identify patients with low reading lev-
els. It provides reading estimates for pa-
tients who read below a ninth grade

level. Itisa medical word recognition
and pronunciation test arranged in order
of complexity by the number of syllables
and pronunciation difficulty. Patients
read down the list, pronouncing aloud
as many words as they can. They then
are scored according to how many
words they can pronounce correctly and
put into one of four categories that ap-
proximately grade level. It takes ap-
proximately 1-2 minutes to administer.
The entire REALM sample kit
(instruction manual, laminated patient
word lists, scoring sheets) is available for
purchase from Terry C. Davis, PhD

( LSU Medical Center, 1501 Kings High-
way, Shreveport, LA 71130-3932, tdav-
isl@Isuhsc.edu).

TOFHLA - Test of Functional Health
Literacy in Adults (Center for Health
Care Strategies, Tools to Evaluate Pa-
tient Education Materials Fact Sheet,
www.chcs.org or
http://www.nursing.columbia.edu/
informatics/HealthLitRes/
assessTool.html)

Funded by:
The Robert Wood Johnson Foundation

Available at:
http://www.peppercornbooks.com/
Cost: $50.

The TOFHLA is used to measure func-
tional health literacy, both numeracy
and reading comprehension, using real
health-related materials, including pa-
tient education, prescription bottle la-
bels, registration forms and instructions
for diagnostic tests. Users are classified
by their ability to read and interpret
health texts. The form is available in
both Spanish (TOFHLA-S) and English
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and takes approximately 20 to 25 min-
utes to administer.

. S-TOFHLA - Short Form Test of Func-
tional Health Literacy in Adults (see
above)

See TOFHLA for purchase information.

The S-TOFHLA is the short form of the
TOFHLA that only uses two reading
comprehension passages. It takes ap-
proximately 5 to 10 minutes to adminis-
ter.

The Newest Vital Sign (NVS)

Sponsor: Pfizer Clear Health Communi-
cation

Available at:
http://www.pfizerhealthliteracy.com/
physicians-providers/newest-vital-

sign.html

The NVS is a test of numeracy. This test
has 6 items and tests the ability to read
and comprehend information on a nutri-
tion fact label.
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Readability Tools

1. (plaineword) ™

Available at:
http://www.cpha.ca/en/publications/

pubs.aspx

Developed by the Canadian Public
Health Association’s National Literacy
and Health Program, this tool provides
an interactive way to replace a “hard”
word with a “plain word”. The software
program operates as a “game” and will
provide users with words or phrases
that can be used in low-literacy materi-
als.

SMOG: A readability assessment tool
Available at:

http://www.harrymclaughlin.com/
SMOG.htm

The SMOG is a useful tool for doing
quick reading level assessments of writ-
ten materials. It takes into consideration
(1) the total number of sentences, and (2)
the number of words of three or more
syllables. The more polysyllabic words
there are in the text, the higher the read-
ing level will be. Since SMOG readabil-
ity formula aims for 100% comprehen-
sion, its grade level scores are usually
higher than any of the other formulas,
most of which target between 50% and
75% comprehension.
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3. Flesch-Kincaid Formula

Similar to the SMOG formula, this index
computes readability based on the aver-
age number of syllables per word and the
average number of words per sentence.
The score in this case indicates a grade-
school level. For example, a score of 8.0
means that an eighth grader would un-
derstand the document. This formula
can be used when using Microsoft Word
through the spelling function. Its reading
level scores are usually slightly lower
than SMOG scores as they do not target
for 100% comprehension.

4. Fry Readability Graphs

The Fry Readability Graphs provide a
visual, quick way to assess the reading
level of written materials. The grade
reading level (or reading difficulty level)
is calculated by the average number of
sentences (y-axis) and syllables (x-axis)
per hundred words. These averages are
plotted onto a specific graph; the inter-
section of the average number of sen-
tences and the average number of sylla-
bles determines the reading level of the
content.

SAM: A suitability of materials
assessment tool

Instead of testing reading level, the SAM
addresses other important aspects of
written materials such as organization,
layout and design, as well as readability.
It has also been adapted to be used with
video and audio-taped instructions to
patients. Itis, however, a subjective in-
strument and it can sometimes be diffi-
cult to achieve consistent scoring with
multiple reviewers. It uses 22 scoring
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factors looking at content, literacy de-
mand, graphics, layout and typography,
learning stimulation and motivation and
cultural appropriateness.

PMOSE/IKIRSCH:
A document literacy assessment tool

The PMOSE/IKIRSCH is the first and
only tool available to assess the difficulty
of written documents, especially as it re-
lates to charts and tables. It does not ad-
dress readability level, vocabulary or
complexity of phrases. It does, however,
look at structure of text, number of la-
bels and number of items that a reader
has to interpret in the text. These factors
are then used to calculate the complexity
of a chart or table, with scores ranging
from Level 1 (grade 4 reading level,
equivalent to eight years or less of
school) to Level 5 (range including 16
years or more of schooling).
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Materials/Resources for Consumers

1. Federal Drug Administration. Quick

Information for Your Health.

Sponsor: Federal Drug Administration
Available at:
http://www.fda.gov/opacom/
lowlit/7lowlit.html.

The FDA provides easy-to-read health
brochures in English and Spanish. Bro-
chures are available in both HTML and
PDF formats and topics include keeping
food safe, diabetes, losing weight safely,
giving medications etc.

. Deciphering Medspeak Brochures.
July 2007.

Sponsor: Medical Library Association
Available at:
http://www.mlanet.org/resources/
medspeak/index.html.

These brochures help consumers trans-
late “‘medspeak’, the language health
professionals use. Written in English
and Spanish, these brochures address a
variety of health topics, including HIV/
AIDS, stroke, eye disease, heart disease,
diabetes and breast cancer.

MedlinePlus Easy-to-Read

Sponsor:
NIH and National Library of Medicine

Available at:
http://www.nlm.nih.gov/medlineplus/
easytoread a.html

Medline Plus helps consumers find up-
to-date, quality information about health
topics, herbs and drugs. Information is
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available in English, Spanish and Easy-
to-Read versions.

NIH Senior Health.

Sponsor:
National Institute on Aging and the Na-

tional Library of Medicine
Available at:
http://nihseniorhealth.qov

This website has easy-to-read health in-
formation and videos for senior citizens
on a variety of topics.

National Diabetes Information Clear-
inghouse. Diabetes Easy-to-Read.

Sponsor:
National Institute of Diabetes and Diges-

tive and Kidney Diseases
Available at:
http://diabetes.niddk.nih.gov/dm/

€Z.asp

These easy-to-read materials are written
in English and Spanish. Topics include
information about diabetes and how it
relates to medication, physical activity
and nutrition.
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6. Plain Language Pediatric Patient Edu-

cation: Handouts for Common Pediat-
ric Topics.

Sponsor:
American Academy of Family Pediatrics

Available at:

http://www.aap.org/bst/
showdetl.cfm?

&DID=15&Product 1D=4391&CatlD+13
8

This website has easy-to-read informa-
tion on a number of pediatric issues, in-
cluding vaccination, SIDS and parenting.
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. What to Do Series...

Sponsor:
Institute for Healthcare Advancement

Available at:
www.ihadhealth.org or call 1-800-434-
4633.

This series includes five easy to read soft
cover books in both English and Span-
ish. They include:

1. What to do when your child gets

sick

2. What to do when you’re having a
baby
What to do for teen health
What to do for senior health
5. What to do for healthy teeth.

B w
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8.

10.

11.

Healthwise Handbook.

Available at:

www.Healthwise.org.

Cost: $10

Accurate, easy to read and use family
guide to know how to treat common
health and medical problems and when
to call the doctor.

Proliteracy Organization.

Available at:
www.ProLiteracy.org

This website provides literacy reports
and resources as well as easy to read
health information for consumers.

National Cancer Institute.
Available at:

http://www.cancer.qov/cancertopics/
witk/index

NCI provides access to 12 easy to read
one page fact sheets about cancer, treat-
ments and how to manage side effects.

Healthy Roads Media.

Available at:
http://www.healthyroadsmedia.org

This site offers health information about
a variety of topics in many languages
and in both audio and printed formats.
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12. Healthfinder.gov.

Sponsor:
U.S. Department of Health and Human

Services
Available at:
www.healthfinder.gov

This portal website provides access to
health information created by all federal
agencies. Consumers can search by
topic and can also access the website in
Spanish.
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